Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

STATE BOARD OF REGISTRATION
)

FOR THE HEALING ARTS,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 07-0757 HA



)

BRANDON D. RIESENMY, M.D.,
)




)



Respondent.
)

ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY 
DETERMINATION IN PART


Brandon D. Riesenmy, M.D., is subject to discipline because he violated state and federal laws by allowing an advanced practice nurse to authorize refills for controlled substances without his approval and because his Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs registration was placed on probation.  We cannot find cause for discipline as to two of the allegations in the complaint because the State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts (“the Board”) failed to cite the law that Riesenmy is alleged to have violated.
Procedure


On May 17, 2007, the Board filed a complaint seeking to discipline Riesenmy.  On 
July 10, 2007, Riesenmy was personally served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  On July 16, 2007, Riesenmy filed an answer.   

On July 26, 2007, the Board filed a motion for summary determination.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Board establishes facts that (a) Riesenmy does not dispute and (b) entitle the Board to a favorable decision.

We gave Riesenmy until August 16, 2007, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.  The following facts, as established by the Board, are undisputed.

Findings of Fact

1. Riesenmy was licensed as a physician and surgeon.  His license expired on 
January 31, 2007.
Count I

2. Riesenmy was registered by the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (“the BNDD”) to stock, prescribe, dispense, and administer controlled substances.
3. On December 18, 2006, Riesenmy entered into a settlement agreement with the BNDD that placed his BNDD registration on probation for two years.

Count II

4. Riesenmy had a collaborative practice agreement with Doris McMahon, an advanced practice nurse.
5. Riesenmy allowed McMahon to authorize refills for controlled substances without his direction and supervision.

Count III

6. Riesenmy did not maintain faxed prescriptions separately from patients’ charts in written form in chronological order.
7. On December 16, 2005, Riesenmy issued a controlled substance prescription to Patient F.W. for Norco and did not maintain a record of the prescription.
8. Prior to June 15, 2006, Riesenmy issued a controlled substance prescription to Patient J.C. for Concerta 27 mg, #60, that listed a date of June 15, 2006.
9. Riesenmy did not maintain complete and accurate controlled substance records.
10. Riesenmy issued controlled substances without documenting the complete date in the patients’ charts.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Riesenmy has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  We can find cause for discipline only on the law cited in the complaint.
  Riesenmy’s answer states:  “In response to the complaint filed against me by the State Board, I admit to all statement [sic] of facts.”  We have made findings of fact based on Riesenmy’s admission that the factual allegations in the complaint are true.  In Findings 4, 5, 6, 9, and 10, we have no information as to when or where this conduct took place.

The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 334.100:

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered the person’s certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(6) Violation of, or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;

*   *   *


(13) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government;
*   *   *


(23) Revocation, suspension, limitation or restriction of any kind whatsoever of any controlled substance authority, whether agreed to voluntarily or not[.]

Count I – Registration on Probation

On December 18, 2006, Riesenmy entered into a settlement agreement with the BNDD that placed his BNDD registration on probation for two years.  He is subject to discipline under 
§ 334.100.2(23).
Count II – Violation of the Board’s Regulation

Regulation 20 CSR 2150-5.100(3)(I)(9) states:

An advanced practice nurse shall not, under any circumstances, prescribe controlled substances.  The administering or dispensing of a controlled substance by a registered professional nurse or advanced practice nurse in a collaborative practice arrangement shall be accomplished only under the direction and supervision of the collaborating physician, or other physician designated in the collaborative practice arrangement, and shall only occur on a case-by-case determination of the patient’s needs following verbal consultation between the collaborating physician and collaborating registered professional nurse or advanced practice nurse.  The required consultation and the physician’s directions for the administering or dispensing of controlled substances shall be recorded in the patient’s chart and in the appropriate dispensing log.  These recordings shall be made by the collaborating registered professional nurse or advanced practice 
nurse and shall be cosigned by the collaborating physician following a review of the records[.]

(Emphasis added.)  We agree that Riesenmy’s conduct in allowing McMahon to authorize refills for controlled substances without his direction or supervision assisted McMahon in violating this regulation.  Riesenmy is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2(6).
Count III – Violation of Statutes and Regulations
a.  Faxed Prescriptions

Section 195.050.6, RSMo 2000, states:


Every person registered to manufacture, distribute or dispense controlled substances under sections 195.005 to 195.425 shall keep records and inventories of all such drugs in conformance with the record keeping and inventory requirements of federal law, and in accordance with any additional regulations of the department of health.
The Board argues that Riesenmy violated this statute when he failed to maintain faxed prescriptions separately from patients’ charts in written form in chronological order.  The Board fails to cite the state or federal regulation that sets forth this record keeping requirement.  The regulation cited, 19 CSR 30-1047(7), does not exist.  This and the other two instances of incorrect statutory cites may be typographical errors, but it is not our role to amend the complaint and it would be inappropriate for us to do so.
b.  Documentation of Address

The following laws and regulations require documentation of patients’ addresses on all controlled substance prescriptions.
Section 195.060.1:


Except as provided in subsection 3 of this section, a pharmacist, in good faith, may sell and dispense controlled substances to any person only upon a prescription of a practitioner as authorized by statute, provided that the controlled substances listed in Schedule V may be sold without prescription in 
accordance with regulations of the department of health and senior services.  All written prescriptions shall be signed by the person prescribing the same.  All prescriptions shall be dated on the day when issued and bearing the full name and address of the patient for whom, or of the owner of the animal for which, the drug is prescribed, and the full name, address, and the registry number under the federal controlled substances laws of the person prescribing, if he is required by law to be so registered. . . .
21 CFR 1306.05(a):

(a) All prescriptions for controlled substances shall be dated as of, and signed on, the day when issued and shall bear the full name and address of the patient, the drug name, strength, dosage form, quantity prescribed, directions for use and the name, address and registration number of the practitioner.  In addition, a prescription for a Schedule III, IV, or V narcotic drug approved by FDA specifically for “detoxification treatment” or “maintenance treatment” must include the identification number issued by the Administrator under § 1301.28(d) of this chapter or a written notice stating that the practitioner is acting under the good faith exception of § l301.28(e).  Where a prescription is for gamma​hydroxybutyric acid, the practitioner shall note on the face of the prescription the medical need of the patient for the prescription. A practitioner may sign a prescription in the same manner as he would sign a check or legal document (e.g., J.H. Smith or John H. Smith).  Where an oral order is not permitted, prescriptions shall be written with ink or indelible pencil or typewriter and shall be manually signed by the practitioner.  The prescriptions may be prepared by the secretary or agent for the signature of a practitioner, but the prescribing practitioner is responsible in case the prescription does not conform in all essential respects to the law and regulations.  A corresponding liability rests upon the pharmacist, including a pharmacist employed by a central fill pharmacy, who fills a prescription not prepared in the form prescribed by DEA regulations.
19 CSR 30-1.048(2):

Each individual practitioner shall maintain a record of the date, full name and address of the patient, the drug name, strength, dosage form and quantity for all controlled substances prescribed or administered.  This record may be maintained in the patient’s medical record.  When the controlled substance record is maintained in the patient’s medical record and the practitioner is not the custodian of the medical record, the practitioner shall make 
the controlled substance record available as required in 19 CSR 30-l.041 and 19 CSR 30-1.044.
Riesenmy violated this statute and these regulations when he failed to document patients’ addresses on controlled substance prescriptions.

c.  Failure to Maintain Record


The Board argues that Riesenmy violated § 195.060.6 when he issued a controlled substance on December 16, 2005, to Patient F.W. for Norco and did not maintain a record of it.  This statute does not exist.
d.  Listing Wrong Date


Regulation 21 CFR 1306.05(a) is quoted above.  Section 195.060.6 does not exist.
19 CSR 30-1.044(1) states:

Every registrant required to keep records shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported or otherwise disposed of by him/her.
Riesenmy violated these regulations when, prior to June 15, 2006, he issued a controlled substance prescription to Patient J.C. for Concerta that listed that date.

e.  Failure to Maintain Records


Section 195.050.6, RSMo 2000, and 19 CSR 30-1.044(1) are quoted above.  Riesenmy violated this statute and this regulation when he failed to maintain complete and accurate controlled substance records.

f.  Documenting the Date


Section 195.050.6, RSMo 2000, and 19 CSR 30-1.048(2) are quoted above.  Riesenmy violated this statute and this regulation when he issued controlled substances without documenting the complete date in the patients’ charts.

g.  Cause for Discipline


Riesenmy is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2(6) and (13) for violating drug laws and regulations promulgated pursuant to Chapter 334.
Summary


Riesenmy is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2(6), (13), and (23).  We grant the Board’s motion for summary determination in part.  We deny summary determination as to whether Riesenmy is subject to discipline for failing to maintain faxed prescriptions separately from patients’ charts in written form in chronological order.  We deny summary determination as to whether Riesenmy is subject to discipline for issuing a controlled substance on December 16, 2005, to Patient F.W. for Norco and failing to maintain a record of it.

The Board shall inform us by September 28, 2007 whether it will file a motion to amend its complaint and whether it intends to proceed with the hearing set for November 6, 2007.

SO ORDERED on September 18, 2007.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2006, unless otherwise noted.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  
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